

ARIANA BORGESEFEITO DE FATORES AMBIENTAIS NAMOUTINHOLONGEVIDADE DE Daphnia magna

EFFECT OF ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS IN Daphnia magna LONGEVITY PARAMETERS



ARIANA BORGES MOUTINHO

EFEITO DE FATORES AMBIENTAIS NA LONGEVIDADE DE *Daphnia magna*

EFFECT OF ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS IN Daphnia magna LONGEVITY PARAMETERS

Dissertação apresentada à Universidade de Aveiro para cumprimento dos requisitos necessários à obtenção do grau de Mestre em Biologia Molecular e Celular, realizada sob a orientação científica da Doutora Isabel Maria Cunha Antunes Lopes, Investigadora Auxiliar do Departamento de Biologia e Centro de Estudos do Ambiente e do Mar da Universidade de Aveiro e coorientação da Doutora Raquel Monteiro Marques da Silva, Investigadora Auxiliar do Instituto de Patologia e Imunologia Molecular da Universidade do Porto.

O júri

Presidente	Prof. Doutora Maria de Lourdes Gomes Pereira Professor Associado com Agregação do Departamento de Biologia da Universidade de Aveiro
Arguente	Prof. Doutor Rui Godinho Lobo Girão Ribeiro Professor Associado com Agregação da Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade de Coimbra
Orientador	Doutora Isabel Maria Cunha Antunes Lopes Investigador Auxiliar do Centro de Estudos do Ambiente e do Mar, Departamento de Biologia da Universidade de Aveiro
Coorientador	Doutora Raquel Monteiro Marques da Silva Investigador Auxiliar do Instituto de Patologia e Imunologia Molecular da Universidade do Porto

Agradecimentos O meu reconhecido agradecimento...

Às minhas orientadoras Doutora Isabel Lopes e Doutora Raquel Silva pela amabilidade com que me receberam, pelos conhecimentos transmitidos, pelo apoio, paciência e incentivo dados durante todo este percurso.

À Bárbara Santos, pela inestimável amizade e colaboração, sem as quais todo este trabalho teria sido mais difícil.

Ao Miguel Moreira pela ajuda com as dáfnias e pela camaradagem.

Às colegas do IPATIMUP, Sara Pereira, Sarah Silva, Joana Gonçalves e Mariana Correia, pela ajuda na aprendizagem de novas metodologias e em tudo o que fosse necessário, sempre com simpatia.

Aos colegas de laboratório da UA: Susana Pereira, Carlos, Sílvia, Sandra, Fabianne, Graziela, Hugo Monteiro, Lídia, Susana Gomes, Rhaul, Hugo Vieira, Sara, Cátia Venâncio, Fabiana e Tim, pelo seu apoio, traduzido nas mais variadas maneiras. Agradeço igualmente a todos os outros colegas que não referi pessoalmente, pelo bom ambiente de trabalho e por me fazerem sentir em casa.

Ao Abel Ferreira, pela disponibilidade em ensinar, ajudar e resolver qualquer problema que surgisse.

Aos colegas da Unidade de Genética Molecular do Centro de Genética Médica Doutor Jacinto Magalhães pelo incentivo dado na continuação do meu percurso académico.

Às minhas amigas Sara, Nair e Maria pelo apoio moral.

Por fim, quero agradecer aos meus pais o apoio incondicional.

A todos, muito obrigada.

palavras-chave

resumo

Temperatura, restrição alimentar, cobre, longevidade, *Daphnia magna*, sirtuínas, nicotinamidase.

Longevidade é a capacidade de um organismo sobreviver para além da idade média de morte para a espécie a que pertence. Pode ser modulada por vários parâmetros ambientais que influenciam o metabolismo celular, a oxidação, ou a integridade do ADN. Até ao presente já foram realizados alguns estudos com o objetivo de compreender a influência de vários fatores ambientais na longevidade dos organismos. No entanto, a maior parte destes estudos são limitados a um número reduzido de espécies modelo. Deste modo, é pertinente gerar mais conhecimento sobre a estrutura do genoma e respostas funcionais de genes às condições ambientais em espécies com ecologias bem conhecidas, de modo a promover uma melhor compreensão das interações gene-ambiente num contexto evolutivo. A metodologia mais direta para abordar esta questão é identificar genes ou intervenções que funcionam de forma semelhante de modo a se poder proceder à modulação do tempo de vida nos organismos. Componentes de insulina ou o fator de crescimento 1 da família da insulina (IGF-1), a cínase da rapamicina (TOR) e as sirtuínas (SIR) da família das desacetilases, reguladas pelo gene PNC1 (pirazinamidase e nicotinamidase), são alguns exemplos que apresentam essa característica. Levando isso em consideração, o principal objetivo deste trabalho foi avaliar a influência de diversos parâmetros abióticos na longevidade de duas linhagens clonais da espécie Daphnia magna Straus (K6 e BEAK), da sub ordem Cladocera. Para atingir este objectivo foram avaliados os efeitos da temperatura, da restrição alimentar e de diferentes níveis de cobre na reprodução (número total de neonatos produzidos) e no tempo de vida de D. magna. No caso de restrição calórica e cobre, foram ainda avaliados os efeitos na expressão génica e integridade (ocorrência de mutações) do gene PNC1, respetivamente. Daphnia magna foi selecionada como organismo para este estudo, por apresentar uma ecologia bem documentada, ser de fácil manutenção em laboratório e por se reproduzir por partenogénese, o que permite o estabelecimento de linhagens clonais, sendo desta forma uma ferramenta para discriminar diferencas genéticas (entre clones) do background experimental. Além disso, o genoma da espécie Daphnia pulex foi já seguenciado, permitindo a avaliação da relação entre a estrutura, expressão génica e respostas a nível populacional às alterações ambientais. De um modo geral, os resultados obtidos revelaram uma dependência entre linhagens clonais e a influência dos parâmetros ambientais na longevidade. O aumento da concentração de cobre e da temperatura provocou uma redução na produção de descendência e também na longevidade de D. magna. A restrição alimentar também induziu um decréscimo na produção de descendência nas duas linhagens clonais. A análise das sequências de ADN apenas revelou polimorfismos semelhantes em todas as amostras, o que sugere que não foram induzidas quaisquer mutações devido a exposição aos fatores ambientais em estudo. Também não foram identificados efeitos significativos de restrição calórica na expressão relativa do gene PNC1.

keywords

Abstract

Temperature, food restriction, copper, longevity, *Daphnia magna*, sirtuins, nicotinamidase.

Longevity is the ability to survive beyond the average age of death for the species. It can be modulated by several environmental parameters that influence cellular metabolism, oxidation, or DNA integrity. A set of works has already been carried out in order to understand the influence of environmental factors in longevity. However, most of these studies are restricted to a narrow number of model species. It is then pertinent to generate more knowledge on the genome structure and on the functional responses of genes to environmental conditions within species with tractable ecologies, aiming to improve the understanding of gene-environment interactions in an evolutionary context. The most direct way to address this problem is to identify genes or interventions that function similarly to modulate life span in different organisms. Components of the insulin or insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) signaling pathway, the nutrient-responsive target of rapamycin (TOR) kinase and the sirtuin (SIR) family of protein deacetylases, regulated by PNC1 gene (pyrazinamidase and nicotinamidase), among others, have been found to have this property. Taking this into consideration, the main goal of this work was to assess the influence of several environmental parameters in the longevity of two clonal lineages of the cladoceran species Daphnia magna Straus (K6 and BEAK). To attain this purpose, the effects of temperature, food restriction and different copper levels were evaluated in the reproduction (total number of neonates produced) and life span of *D. magna*. The effects in the gene expression and genomic integrity of the PNC1 gene (occurrence of mutations) were assessed in the food restriction and copper assays, respectively. The model organism Daphnia magna was selected to address the purposed objective as its ecology is well understood, it is of easy maintenance and reproduces by parthenogenesis, which allows the creation of clonal lineages, thus providing a tool to discriminate genetically based differences (among clones) from the experimental background. In addition, the genome of the closely related Daphnia pulex has been sequenced, allowing the assessment of the relationship between structure, gene expression and population-level responses to environmental changes. In general, the obtained results revealed a clonal lineage dependency on the influence of the environmental parameters in longevity. An increased temperature and copper concentration provoked a reduction in the reproductive output and as well as in the longevity of daphnids. Food restriction also induced a decrease in the reproductive output of both clonal lineages of D. magna. After DNA sequencing, only similar SNPs were found in all samples and therefore, no mutational alterations were caused by exposure to the studied environmental factors. No significant effects occurred in the relative gene expression of PNC1 due to caloric restriction.

CONTENTS

CONTENTS	I
LIST OF FIGURES	III
LIST OF TABLES	VI
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	VII
1. INTRODUCTION	3 -
1.1. Longevity and aging	3 -
1.2. Model organism	4 -
1.3. Longevity associated genes	5 -
1.3.1. Insulin-like growth factors	6 -
1.3.2. Target of rapamycin	6 -
1.3.3. Sirtuins and PNC1	7 -
1.4. Environmental factors	8 -
1.4.1. Temperature	8 -
1.4.2. Food restriction	8 -
1.4.3. Copper	9 -
1.5. Research aims	9 -
2. MATERIAL AND METHODS	13 -
2.1. Daphnia magna breeding	13 -
2.2. Experimental procedure	14 -
2.2.1. Temperature exposure	14 -
2.2.2. Copper exposure	14 -
2.2.3. Food restriction exposure	15 -
2.2.4. Water monitoring	15 -
2.2.5. Collection of organisms for molecular analysis	15 -
2.3. Statistical analysis	16 -
2.3.1. Selection of organisms for molecular analysis	16 -
2.4. Molecular analysis	16 -
2.4.1. DNA, RNA and protein extraction	16 -
2.4.2. cDNA synthesis	17 -
2.4.3. Primers	18 -
2.4.4. PCR conditions	18 -
2.4.5. Electrophoresis	19 -
2.4.6. Sequencing	20 -
2.4.7. Sequence analysis and bioinformatics	20 -
2.4.8. Protein quantification	21 -
2.4.9. SDS-PAGE	21 -

3. R	ESULT	S	25 -	
3.	1. T	emperature	25 -	
	3.1.1.	Physicochemical parameters	25 -	
	3.1.2.	Age at first reproduction	26 -	
	3.1.3.	Life span and reproduction parameters	27 -	
	3.1.4.	Molecular analysis	29 -	
3.	2. C	opper	30 -	
3.	2.1.	Physicochemical parameters	30 -	
	3.2.2.	Age at first reproduction	30 -	
	3.2.3.	Life span and reproduction parameters	31 -	
	3.2.4.	Molecular analysis	34 -	
	3.2.4	.1. DNA sequence analysis	35-	
	3.2.4	.2. Protein expression profile	38 -	
3.	3. F	ood restriction	39 -	
	3.3.1.	Physicochemical parameters	39 -	
	3.3.2.	Age at first reproduction	40 -	
	3.3.3.	Life span and reproduction parameters	40 -	
	3.3.4.	Gene expression analysis	43 -	
3.	4 Sirtui	n phylogeny	45 -	
4.	DISCU	SSION	49 -	
4.	1. Tem	perature	49 -	
4.	2. Copp		51 -	
4.	3. Food	I restriction	53 -	
5.	CONC	LUSIONS AND FINAL REMARKS	57 -	
5.	1. Futu	re perspectives	57 -	
6.	REFEF	ERENCES 61 -		

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 - Average of age at first reproduction (days) for clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, exposed to different temperatures. Error bars represent the standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc tests.

Figure 2 - Average of life span (days) for clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, after being exposed to different temperatures. Error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(*p*<0.05), following Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc tests.

Figure 3 - Survival curves (%) for females of clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, after being exposed to different temperatures (20°C, 15°C and 25°C).....- 28 -

Figure 5 - Average of age at first reproduction (days) for clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, exposed to different copper concentrations. Error bars represent the standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc tests.

Figure 8 - Average of the total number of neonates produced per female of clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, after being exposed to different copper concentrations. Error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following ANOVA and Dunnett's (K6) and Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's (BEAK) post-hoc tests...- 34 -

Figure 9 - Electropherograms showing the heterozygous substitutions 557T>C and 704T>C (highlighted in frames), in the GAPDH gene from copper samples of *Daphnia magna* K6. The alignment was made with a partial mRNA (AJ292555, GenBank) and a partial CDS of GAPDH (FJ668040, GenBank).....-35 -

Figure 11 - A - Alignment of Daphnia magna partial coding sequences (JN994323 to 55, GenBank,
NBCI database) of the GAPDH gene, with our consensus sequence. B - Partial translation of a
selected sequences from figure A, showing the SNPs 545T>C and 548G>A. These correspond to
synonymous alterations, as the amino acid remains
unchanged.....- 37 -

Figure 12 - SDS-PAGE with a sample from the highest tested copper concentration treatment 5(56.3µg/L), comparing to control. The molecular size marker is Precision Plus Protein[™] WesternC[™] Standards (Bio-Rad).....- 38 -

Figure 13 - Average of age at first reproduction (days) for clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, exposed to food restriction. Error bars represent the standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc tests.....-40 -

Figure 15 - Survival curves (%) for females of clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna* after being exposed to food restriction.....-42 -

Figure 16 - Average of the total number of neonates produced per female of clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, after being exposed to food restriction. Error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc tests. in food concentration.....-43 -

Figure 17 - cDNA PCR products of PNC1 (amplified with the primers Dm_P3UTR_F2/Dp_Pcds_R2 and Dp_Pcds1) (A) and GAPDH (B) genes of *Daphnia magna* clonal lineage K6 fed with 75000 cells/mL. GAPDH was used as control (housekeeping gene). The first bands on the left could not be compared due to their non-amplified samples; ‡, pixel saturation. C –

Relative mRNA expression in function of a median control (•) by normalization of the signal intensity ratios. The samples are from daphnids whose life span and reproduction values were above mean+stdev (μ + σ), under mean-stdev (μ - σ) or around the median values for each group....-44 -

LIST OF TABLES

 Table 1 - Primers used in PCR amplifications. The sequences are specific to Daphnia magna (Dm) and D. pulex (Dp). Forward and reverse sequences and expected amplicon sizes (bp) are displayed. All primers had an annealing temperature of 54°C. GAPDH primer sequences were retrieved from Haag et al. (2009).

Table 2 - Water quality parameters, measured during the temperature exposure experiments withDaphnia magna clonal lineages K6 and BEAK. Values are the mean±standard deviation. Thecontrol group corresponds to 20°C.....- 25 -

 Table 5 - Water quality parameters, measured during the food restriction experiments of Daphnia

 magna clonal lineages K6 and BEAK. Values are the mean±standard deviation. The control group

 corresponds to 300000 cells/mL.

 - 39

 Table 6 - The sirtuin family of protein deacetylases with the subcelullar location and correspondent

 Daphnia pulex protein ID code.
 - 45

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

analysis of variance
amonium persulfate
American Society for Testing and Materials
Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
base pairs
complementary DNA
deoxyribonucleic acid
coding sequence
dissolved oxygen
U.S. Department of Energy
ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
insulin-like growth factor 1
International Organization for Standardization
messenger RNA
nicotinic acid
nicotinamide
National Center for Biotechnology Information
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
polymerase chain reaction
pyrazinamidase and nicotinamidase
ribonucleic acid
sodium dodecyl sulfate
sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
sirtuin
single nucleotide polymorphism
standard deviation
Tris/Borate/EDTA
target of rapamycin

1. INTRODUCTION

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Longevity and aging

Longevity is the ability to survive for longer than the species average age of death (De Benedictis and Franceschi, 2006), expressed in a cohort measure (Carey and Judge, 2001). So, the definition includes not only the individual capacity to reach old age but also the population-level mortality (Canudas-Romo, 2010). This term is often mistaken for life expectancy, which is the average period of time an organism (or a population) is expected to live, as determined by statistics (Sullivan and Sheffrin, 2003; The American Heritage Medical Dictionary, 2008). Still, another remark can be made for the term life span, which is the genetically endowed limit to life an individual of a species can live (Segen, 2006).

The consequence of an extended period of life is aging, an unavoidable part of life history of an individual (Partridge and Barton, 1993; Gems and Partridge, 2012) that can be observed in all species (De Benedictis and Franceschi, 2006). It consists of an intricate process of cumulated changes in molecular and cellular structures, resulting in the decline of the ability to maintain biochemical and physiological functions, thus increasing susceptibility to disease and death (Fontana et al., 2010). According to McDonald and Ruhe (2011), aging and longevity are different concepts, even though its discrimination may be difficult to apprehend. The rate of aging may affect the length of the life span, although longevity is *per se* independent from the biological aging process.

The longevity of an individual is a complex feature, dependent on many components that modulate multifactorial phenotypes. Such components can be both biological, for instance genes (Finch and Tanzi, 1997; Puca et al., 2001; Browner et al., 2004; Rose et al., 2008), hormonal and growth factor signaling (Coschigano et al., 2000; Flurkey et al., 2001) body weight (Piantanelli et al., 2001), body fat content (Blüher, 2003) and non-biological (extrinsic factors), such as environmental (Coschigano, 2000; Masoro, 2000) and stochastic elements (De Benedictis and Franceschi, 2006). The potential life span of an individual can be

greatly determined by the gene-environment interplay, which ultimately modulates the rates of molecular and cellular deterioration during aging (Finch, 1990; Finch and Tanzi 1997; Pedersen et al., 2012).

The role of genetics in determining longevity is intricate and ambiguous (Finch and Tanzi, 1997). Some mutations significantly have positive and negative impacts, modifying the life span of nematodes and fruit flies (Finch and Tanzi, 1997 and references therein). Nevertheless, the heritability of life span has a relatively minor contribution, accounting for approximately 25% of its variance, in short-lived invertebrates such as nematodes (Johnson and Wood, 1982) and the fruit fly (Promislow et al., 1996) and in mammals, like mouse (Gelman et al., 1988) and humans (Herskind et al., 1996; Mitchell et al., 2001). The remaining 75% are due to environmental influences and chance (Browner et al., 2004), thus modifying the outcomes of longevity.

1.2. Model organism

Simple eukaryotic organisms have been used to analyze the pathways that regulate the aging and life span processes (Kaeberlein, 2007). Of these, the budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* and the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster*, have been the most extensively used and best characterized model organisms regarding longevity (Fontana et al., 2010). Invertebrate model organisms are important tools for this kind of research because they are relatively short-lived, have profuse information on databases and are of ease genetic analysis (Partridge, 2009). However, little is known in other model species, namely aquatic ones, such as the freshwater planktonic crustacean *Daphnia magna* Straus, 1820. *Daphnia magna* has a well studied ecology and a sentinel role within freshwater ecosystems, turning this species into a particularly amenable system for ecological genomics that aims to understand the genetic mechanisms underlying responses of organisms to their natural environments (Eads et al., 2008; Ungerer et al., 2008).

Daphnia is commonly used as a model system for cyclical parthenogenesis in ecological and evolutionary research. Cyclically parthenogenetic organisms, which reproduce both sexually and asexually, are common in nature, in both the animal and plant kingdoms (Hebert, 1987; Ellstrand et al., 1996). This mode of reproduction, especially its asexual (clonal) component, has attracted considerable interests among population geneticists and evolutionary biologists (Yin et al., 2012).

Under favourable environmental conditions, *Daphnia* reproduces by parthenogenesis, forming all-female clones (Eads et al., 2008). This life cycle enables the creation of lines for mapping studies, and provides a tool to discriminate genetically based differences (among clones) from experimental or developmental noise by measuring replicates within a clone (Eads et al., 2008; Tollrian et al., 2010). The genome of the closely related *Daphnia pulex* has already been sequenced, allowing us to assess the relationship between genome structure, gene expression and population-level responses to environmental change in *Daphnia magna* as well (Colbourne et al., 2011).

Many abiotic and biotic factors determine the natural fluctuations of zooplankton population densities in general, and *Daphnia* in particular: climatic parameters (temperature and light, hydrogen ions concentration (pH), oxygen conditions, and other water quality parameters) quantitative and qualitative food conditions, essential nutritional elements and compounds as well as predation by fish or invertebrates (Boucknak et al., 2010 and references therein).

1.3. Longevity associated genes

As reviewed by Browner et al. (2004), most biological pathways are evolutionarily conserved, through mechanisms shared by common effects on metabolism and gene expression. Many of the genes that affect aging and longevity have homologues between species. Key pathways that link nutrient and growth factor cues with longevity associated genes, assuming such genes as conservative, can be studied with that purpose. The most direct way to address this problem is to identify genes or interventions that function similarly to modulate life span in different organisms (Kaeberlein, 2007). Components of insulin or insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) signaling pathway, the nutrient-responsive target of rapamycin (TOR) kinase and the sirtuin (SIR) family of protein deacetylases, among others, have been found to have this property (Kaeberlein, 2007). Many others can be related to longevity modulation (de Magalhaes et al., 2009).

1.3.1. Insulin-like growth factors

The insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) are metabolic proteins along the insulin signaling pathway (Guarente and Kenyon, 2000; Tatar et al., 2003) and their receptors and binding proteins constitute a family of cellular modulators that play essential roles in the regulation of growth and development (LeRoith et al., 1995). Mutations that decrease IGF-1 like signaling increase life span in worms, mice and flies (Fontana et al., 2010).

1.3.2. Target of rapamycin

The target of rapamycin (TOR) kinases are evolutionarily conserved proteins that function to mediate mRNA translation, cell growth, metabolism, degradation, and stress resistance (among other processes) in response to nutrient and growth factor cues (Arsham et al., 2006; Martin et al., 2005). Mutations that decrease TOR activity have also been reported to increase life span in both *C*. elegans (Jia et al., 2004; Vellai et al., 2003) and *D. melanogaster* (Kapahi et al., 2004), suggesting an evolutionarily conserved link between TOR signaling and aging. In yeasts, it is considered an important key nutrient-responsive factor as a primary determinant of replicative longevity (Kaeberlein, 2007).

Many of the mutations that extend life span, decrease activity of nutrientsignaling pathways, such as the IGF-1 and the TOR pathways, suggesting that they may induce a physiological state similar to that resulting from periods of food shortage (Fontana et al., 2010). Indeed, dietary restriction, a reduction in food intake without malnutrition, extends life span of diverse organisms, including yeast, flies, worms, fish, rodents, and rhesus monkeys (Mair and Dillin, 2008; Fontana et al., 2010).

1.3.3. Sirtuins and PNC1

The sirtuin (SIR) family of protein deacetylases has been implicated in influencing aging and regulating transcription, apoptosis and stress resistance (Taylor et al., 2008). The role of sirtuins in aging was discovered in budding yeast, where overexpression of SIR2 increases replicative life span (Kaeberlein et al., 1999). It was then reported that elevated sirtuin activity increases life span in *C. elegans* (Tissenbaum and Guarente, 2001; Viswanathan et al., 2005; Berdichevsky et al., 2006), the fruit fly *Drosophila* (Rogina and Helfand, 2004) and in yeasts (Anderson et al., 2003), indicating an evolutionarily ancient role of sirtuins in longevity assurance (Guarente, 2007).

The activity of yeast SIR2 is known to be regulated by PNC1 (pyrazinamidase and nicotinamidase), an important metabolic enzyme that hydrolyzes nicotinamide (NAM) to nicotinic acid (NA) (Anderson et al., 2003; Silva et al., 2009). SIR2 is NAD-dependent, thus, NAD is consumed in the deacetylation reaction producing nicotinamide, a natural sirtuin inhibitor (Gallo et al., 2004). PNC1 influences sirtuin activity in two ways, by converting NAM to NA it relieves sirtuin inhibition and contributes to recycle the NAD cofactor through the NAM salvage pathway (Gallo et al., 2004). In this study, the PNC1 gene was selected to assess a possible relationship between the environment and *Daphnia* longevity. To control the experimental variations in the amount of mRNA, parallel measurement of a housekeeping gene has been used for control and for the normalization of target gene expression data: glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, GAPDH (Barber, 2005).

1.4. Environmental factors

The life span of model organisms can be modulated by environmental conditions that influence cellular metabolism, oxidation, or DNA integrity (Sinclair, 2005; Balan et al., 2008). Several factors are known to influence longevity, including temperature (Dudycha, 2003), caloric restriction (Kenyon, 2001) and oxidative stress (e.g. copper) (Anderson, 2003; Enesco et al., 1989; Kirchman and Botta, 2007).

1.4.1. Temperature

Temperature affects essentially every aspect of the biology of poikilothermic animals, including the energy, activity, growth, and reproduction (Nelson and Cox, 2004). While thermal effects in daphnids have been intensively studied at the ecosystem level, much less is known about the molecular mechanisms underlying the acclimation to different temperatures (Schwerin et al., 2009). *Daphnia magna,* for instance, has been shown to have genetic ability to tolerate high temperatures (Stephenson et al., 1984; MacIsaac et al., 1985; Lagerspetz, 2000). Experiments made with other daphnids (*D. gessneri, Diaphanosoma sarsi* and *Moina reticulata*) showed that although temperature exerted the most powerful influence on embryonic development (Hardy and Duncan, 1994), there was also a smaller food effect (Weglenska, 1971; Korinek, 1970).

1.4.2. Food restriction

For almost 80 years, caloric restriction has been known to significantly extend the average life span of rodents (McCay, 1935). This restriction refers to a dietary regimen low in calories with no undernutrition, to a limitation level below that of control animals fed *ad libitum* (Koubova, 2003). In many other animal models (including yeast, worms and fruit flies), caloric restriction is the most effective environmental method of increasing life span (Masoro, 2000; Mair et al., 2003).

Daphnia longevity is also strongly influenced by food levels (Ingle et al., 1937; Martínez-Jerónimo et al., 1994; Muñoz-Mejía and Martínez-Jerónimo, 2007) and can be twofold extended by dietary restriction (Pietrzak et al., 2010). Many authors have shown that cladocerans cultured at high food concentrations have a shorter duration of post-embryonic development than those cultured at low food levels (De Bernardi et al., 1978; Gras and Saint-Jean, 1978; Lei and Armitage, 1980; Vijverberg, 1980; Kankaala and Wulff, 1981; Rocha, 1983; Orcutt and Porter, 1984; Jayatunga, 1986). However, a study made with *D. similis*, indicated that animals reared at the same temperature, exhibited a higher mean longevity when exposed in natural water at high food concentration of algae (Pedrozo and Bohrer, 2003).

1.4.3. *Copper*

Metals are extremely important elements in aquatic ecosystems. They are naturally present as a result of weathering of soil and rocks (Bradl, 2005). Albeit essential in small concentrations, many are toxic at high levels, and can bioaccumulate and biomagnify in food webs (Rodgher et al., 2005). Numerous studies have reported that copper induces toxicity (Conradi and Depledge, 1998; Koivisto and Ketola, 1995) including genotoxicity (Eicchorn and Shin, 1968; Lloyd and Phillips, 1999) to several species. According to Atienzar et al. (2001), genotoxins can shorten the life expectancy of organisms and can also result in population dynamics alterations (Koivisto and Ketola, 1995; Meador, 1991; Soares et al., 1992). Because copper can also trigger oxidative stress (Lushchak, 2011), it was chosen to assess its effect in longevity, as it is an essential metal, namely being a constitutive of many proteins associated with oxygen processing in organisms (Siegel et al., 1999).

1.5. Research aims

According to the above mentioned, the purpose of the present study was to evaluate the effects of three environmental factors (temperature, food restriction and copper) in the longevity parameters of the cladoceran species *Daphnia magna* Straus. To attain this goal, longevity related parameters were monitored at the individual (total reproduction and life span) and molecular (protein expression and mutations in the case of exposure to copper, and gene expression and genomic integrity of the PNC1 gene in the case of exposure to food restriction) levels.

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1. Daphnia magna breeding

Clones K6 and BEAK of *D. magna*, were kept under laboratory-controlled conditions for several generations as pure parthenogenetic cultures. They were reared in a room at $20^{\circ}C\pm1^{\circ}C$, with a 16:8 light:dark photoperiod (provided by fluorescent light tubes) in groups of 15 to 20 female adults per 800mL of medium, in glass vessels. ASTM synthetic hard water (ASTM, 1988) was used as culture medium, according to the OECD recommendations (OECD, 1998). ASTM was prepared with Milli-Q[®] ultrapure water (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) with resistivity of 18.2 M Ω .cm and the vitamins thiamine hydrochloride (B1), cyanocobalamin (B12) and biotin (H), from Sigma-Aldrich, were added to provide optimal development conditions (ASTM, 1980).

The culture medium was supplemented with 4.8mL of an organic additive at 0.9%, the Marinure[®] seaweed algae extract (Glenside Organics Limited, Stirlingshire, GB), from the brown alga *Ascophyllum nodosum* (Baird et al., 1989). The combination of ASTM medium and seaweed extract is appropriate for the long-term maintenance of viable cultures and testing of daphnids in the laboratory (Sims et al., 1993; OECD, 1997).

The cultures were fed on suspensions of the unicellular green freshwater algae *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata* (Korshikov) F.Hindák, at the non limitingconcentration of 300000 cells/mL, corresponding to approximately 25μ g/mL of carbon (*ad libitum*), measured in a total organic carbon analyzer (TOC-V CPH, Shimadzu, MD, USA). Algal suspensions were obtained from a batch culture, which had been kept continuously in the laboratory (Stein, 1973), harvested in the exponential phase of growth, centrifuged and then resuspended in ASTM water. The number of algal cells was calculated from absorbance measurements at λ =440nm (Jenway 6505 UV/vis spectrophotometer), by using a standard calibration curve, previously obtained for the algae culture. *Daphnia* were fed everyday and the medium was changed every other day.

2.2. Experimental procedure

The experiments were carried out with neonates (less than 24hrs old) from the third, fourth or fifth clutches from the aforementioned clones (OECD, 1998). For each assay, 15 replicas were performed per treatment and all daphnids were individually placed in tall form glass vessels, containing 50mL of test solution. The experiments were carried out in similar conditions as those for the cultures, except when otherwise mentioned. The daphnids were fed everyday and the medium was changed every other day. An experiment ended when all daphnids died.

2.2.1. Temperature exposure

The neonates of *D. magna* were exposed to 15 and 25^o±1^oC, in two different climate chambers (KBWF720, Binder, Germany). The control group was exposed at 20^oC in the same acclimatised room used for the cultures. The temperature of the fresh medium was adjusted in the respective climate chamber prior to the daphnids' transfer.

2.2.2. Copper exposure

The test solution used in this assay was prepared by dilution of copper (II) sulphate pentahydrate (CuSO4.5H₂O, with a purity degree \geq 99.6%, p.a. ACI, ISO 5, supplied by Merck KGaA Darmstadt, Germany) in ultrapure water (Milli-Q[®]). It was prepared in advance and the nominal concentration was 100mg/L. The following test concentrations were attained by diluting the stock solution with ASTM hard water: 11.1, 16.6, 25.0, 37.5 and 56.3µg/L, in a geometric progression series of 1.5. The choice of these values was based on previous experiments made with *Daphnia* (Atienzar et al., 2001; Agra et al., 2011). The control group (no metal) for this assay was the same as used for the temperature control, described above.

2.2.3. Food restriction exposure

The treatments consisted in providing *D. magna* with different amounts of food. The concentrations used were the following: 75000, 97500, 126750 and 164775 cells/mL of the green algae *P. subcapitata*, in a geometric progression of 1.3. These values correspond respectively to 6.25, 8.13, 10.56 and 13.73 μ g/mL of C. The control group was fed with 300000 cells/mL (25 μ g/mL of C).

2.2.4. Water monitoring

Measurements of pH, dissolved oxygen (DO) and conductivity were observed at medium change, both in old and fresh media, to control abrupt differences in the transition and for test validation purposes. The devices used to carry out these measurements were: 330i/SET-2 (WTW, Weilheim, Germany) and HI 8314 (HANNA Instruments, RI, USA) membrane ph-meters, Oxi 330i/SET (WTW) DO meter, Cond 330i/SET with TetraCon[®] 325 and 3110/SET1 (WTW) conductivity meters. SympHony SP90M5 (VWR) was also used for pH and DO measurements.

2.2.5. Collection of organisms for molecular analysis

The exposed animals were checked everyday for mortality and their offspring were collected daily, counted and moved to 50mL vessels containing ASTM water only, where they remained for 24hrs to lessen algal contamination. Afterwards, the juveniles were passed through distilled water and the count was repeated to ensure accuracy. Then, each brood was flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C. Dead neonates were rejected prior to freezing. Each experiment ended when all parent daphnids died.

Overall, 28 different assays were executed, yielding a total of 420 *D. magna* replicates, from which longevity and reproduction parameters were assessed.

2.3. Statistical analysis

To test for statistical significant differences among treatments, all data were verified for normality and homoscedasticity of variances and then analyzed through parametric one-way ANOVA, using SigmaStat v3.5 (Systat[®] Software, Cranes Software International). For statistically significant ANOVAs, post-hoc Dunnett multicomparison tests were performed to discriminate significantly different treatments relatively to control (Zar, 2010). When the normality or the homoscedasticity of variance tests failed, non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA by ranks (Kruskal and Wallis, 1952) was used and differences, relatively to the control, determined by the Dunn's multiple tests for post-hoc comparisons. Variations were calculated as standard error of the mean. Variances were considered significant at *p*<0.05, indicated by *.

2.3.1. Selection of organisms for molecular analysis

Replicas from groups significantly different from control in both life span and reproduction parameters were then selected for molecular analysis, by choosing samples whose values were above mean+sdv (μ + σ), under mean-sdv (μ - σ) and within the median values.

2.4. Molecular analysis

2.4.1. DNA, RNA and protein extraction

Genomic DNA, total RNA and total denatured protein from the same undivided samples were extracted with the IllustraTM triplePrep kit (GE Healthcare, Buckinghamshire, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions, except proteins were resuspended in DeStreak[™] Reagent (GE Healthcare).

In samples where RNA was degraded, the phenol-chloroform method was used for DNA extraction only. Each brood was disrupted with 300µL of STE buffer solution, containing 1M NaCl, 100mM Tris and 10mM EDTA pH 8.0 (G-

Biosciences, St. Louis, MO, USA), 25µL of SDS at 20% (Eurobio, Courtaboeuf, France), 20µL of proteinase K at 20mg/mL (Thermo Scientific) and 20µL of DTT (DL-dithiothreitol) 1M from Sigma-Aldrich. After the addition of 200µL of STE, the samples were incubated in a thermostatic cabinet (GFL 3032) at 56°C for 48hrs, with gentle mixing. Afterwards, Phase-Lock Gel[™] Light tubes (5 PRIME) were centrifuged at 12000g for 20-30s (Eppendorf 5418R refrigerated microcentrifuge), and 20µL of a previously heated NaCl solution at 5M were added, followed by addition of 575µL of phenol:chloroform:isoamilic alcohol (25:24:1) from AppliChem, Germany. Then, the samples were transferred to those tubes and the volumes were completed with nuclease-free water. The mixtures were homogenized and centrifuged at 14000g for 3min. The aqueous phases were moved to new Phase-Lock Gel[™] tubes with 575µL of 24:1 chloroform:isoamilic alcohol (AppliChem), inverted and centrifuged at 14000g for 3min. The aqueous phases were transferred to DNase-free tubes, mixed with 1mL of 96% (v/v) ethanol at -20°C and placed at -80°C for 15min. The microtubes were centrifuged at 14000g for 15min at 4°C and the ethanol was discarded. Then, 1 mL of ethanol at 70% was added, followed by a centrifugation step at 14000g for 5min. The ethanol was discarded and the tubes were left to dry at room temperature. The DNA precipitates were resuspended in 7µL of nuclease-free water.

In both extraction procedures, samples were disrupted with a pellet pestle (Z359971-1EA, Sigma-Aldrich).

Nucleic acid concentrations were measured with a NanoDrop[®] ND-1000 UV/vis spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA) and analyzed with the software ND-1000 v3.3.

2.4.2. cDNA synthesis

RNA samples selected for reverse transcription were firstly subjected to DNase I, RNase-free (Fermentas) treatment as described in the manufacturer's procedure. The reverse transcription reactions were made using RETROscript[®] Kit (Ambion/Life Technologies, Austin, TX), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Negative control (-RT) samples were performed at the same time, substituting the
MMLV-RT reverse transcriptase enzyme (Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus Reverse Transcriptase) with 1µL of nuclease free water.

2.4.3. Primers

Primer sequences were manually designed or retrieved from available literature, as indicated. The OligoCalc web interface (Kibbe, 2007) was used to evaluate the properties of each oligonucleotide, as well as to detect potential hairpin formation and primer dimers. The complete primer sequences and amplicon sizes can be found in Table 1.

Table 1 - Primers used in PCR amplifications. The sequences are specific to *Daphnia magna* (Dm) and *D. pulex* (Dp). Forward and reverse sequences and expected amplicon sizes (bp) are displayed. All primers had an annealing temperature of 54°C. GAPDH primer sequences were retrieved from Haag et al. (2009).

Primer name	Primer sequences (5'-3')	Amplicon size (bp)
Dm_GAPDH_F	F CAATGGTCACCACATTCAGG	442
Dm_GAPDH_R	R AATATTTTGGGCAGCACCAC	
Dp_Pcds_F1	F GTAGCAGCAGCAGTGACC	444
Dp_Pcds_R1	R TCTTGACCATTCTGCTGAGC	
Dm_P3UTR_F2	F CATCCGGACATCGATTCCTATTCTGC	423
Dp_Pcds_R2	R GATGACGGAATCGCGAGG	

2.4.4. PCR conditions

Each PCR reaction was carried out with 5µL QIAGEN Multiplex PCR Master Mix (containing HotStarTaq[®] DNA polymerase, Multiplex PCR buffer and dNTP mix), 1µL of Q-solution (QIAGEN), 1µL of each primer at 2µM (Thermo Scientific), 1µL of DNA of varying concentrations and 1µL of nuclease free water, to a final volume of 10µL. A no-template control was always included. All reactions were performed with 2720 Thermal Cycler and GeneAmp[®] PCR System 2700

thermocyclers (Applied Biosystems) and with MyCycler[™] Thermal Cycler (Bio-Rad). The PCR cycles for all primers had a 15min initial denaturation step at 95°C, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30s, annealing at 54°C for 1min and extension at 72°C for 1min30s. A final hold occurred at 72°C for 15min. The same cycle was used for Dm_GAPDH and Dm_P3UTR_F2/Dp_Pcds_R2 primers, except the amplification step had 35 cycles. An additional cycle was performed for GAPDH primers, as described for the later, but with an extension step of 1min and a final extension of 10min.

2.4.5. Electrophoresis

PCR products were separated by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The gels were made from a solution of 8.42% (w/v) 19:1 AccuGel (Acrylamide to Bisacrylamide Stabilized Solution, National Diagnostics, Atlanta, GA), 1.5M Tris-HCI Buffer pH 8.8 (Bio-Rad), glycerol at 7.37% (Merck) and distilled water. The gels were prepared with 3mL of the previous solution, 170µL of 2.5% APS (ammonium persulfate) from Promega and 7µL of TEMED (N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylene diamine) from National Diagnostics. The molecular size marker used was O'GeneRuler[™] 100bp Plus DNA Ladder (Fermentas). Runs were performed in Pharmacia LKB Multiphor II Electrophoresis Unit, with a power supply from Desatronic 500/500 (DESAGA, Germany).

DNA bands on the gels were visualized through a silver staining process, consisting of a series of steps in the following order: 10% ethanol for 10min, 1% nitric acid for 5min, two washings with distilled water for 10s, silver nitrate (0.2%) for 20min in the dark and two washing steps again. The images were developed by a solution of formaldehyde 0.02% (Merck) in sodium carbonate 0.28M, from AppliChem (Merril and Goldman 1984). To prevent overdevelopment, the reactions were stopped with 10% acetic acid for 2min, ending with a final water wash. The DNA samples that presented single, well-defined bands with the expected size were sequenced.

cDNA PCR products were subjected to an electrophoresis of 1% agarose gel (BIORON, Germany) in 0.5x TBE buffer (Tris, borate and EDTA). The samples

were prepared for the run by the addition of 2µL of loading buffer (containing 9% glycerol and 2.5mg/mL of 0.25% bromophenol blue in distilled water) to 9µL of PCR product. GelRed[™] (Biotium, CA, USA) was used to stain the gel and the molecular size ladder was the same as previously mentioned. The run was made with a Sub-Cell[®] GT system with PowerPac 300 power supply (Bio-Rad). cDNA bands were observed through a Molecular Imager[®] ChemiDoc[™] XRS Imaging System (Bio-Rad). Relative quantification of the cDNA bands was made with Quantity One[®] 1-D Analysis Software version 4.6.8 (Basic), from Bio-Rad.

2.4.6. Sequencing

For sequencing reactions, the DNA products were purified with ExoSAP-IT[®] PCR (USB Corporation) by adding 1U (2µL) to 5µL of PCR product. Reactions were incubated at 37°C for 15min followed by additional 15min at 85°C for enzyme inactivation, and used as a template for sequencing, performed with the ABI Prism[®] BigDye[®] Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The following programme was used: an initial denaturation step at 96°C for 5min and 35 cycles of 96°C for 20s, 54°C for 10s (52°C for the copper samples) and 60°C for 1min30s; then, the mixture was subjected to an extension step of 10min at 60°C.

The DNA was then purified with Sephadex[®] G-50 Fine (GE Healthcare) and denatured with 10μ L HiDiTM formamide (Applied Biosystems). The samples were separated by capillary electrophoresis on a 3130x/ Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems) and the results were analyzed using Geneious software, v5.6.5 (Drummond et al., 2011).

2.4.7. Sequence analysis and bioinformatics

After sequencing, the DNA fragments were aligned with each other and with reference sequences from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database, to search for nucleotidic alterations.

Human sirtuin (Hs) aminoacid sequences (NP) from the NCBI database were compared to the *D. pulex* protein database (*Daphnia pulex* v1.0 all gene models) using BLASTp (Basic Local Alignment Search Tool for proteins) analysis software, to identify regions of local similarity between sequences (Altschul et al., 1990). BLASTp was used via the *D. pulex* genome portal, from the DOE Joint Genome Institute (Grigoriev et al., 2011). The corresponding *D. pulex* sirtuin sequences were retrieved, aligned and phylogenetic relationships between them and human sirtuins were assessed, utilizing Geneious software, v5.6.6 (Drummond et al., 2011). Bayesian inference analyses were performed with MrBayes v3.2 (Huelsenbeck and Ronquist, 2001) available in Geneious, using the Blosum62+I+G+F model of protein evolution, as determined by ProtTest v2.4 server (Abascal et al., 2005) and the program's default parameters.

2.4.8. Protein quantification

Following protein extraction, the Bradford method (Bradford, 1976) was used in selected samples to estimate protein concentration, using Quick StartTM Bradford 1x dye Reagent (Bio-Rad). Measurements were made at λ =595nm in an Ultraspec 1100 pro (Amersham Biosciences) spectrophotometer.

2.4.9. SDS-PAGE

To separate proteins according to their electrophoretic mobility, an SDS-PAGE was performed (Laemmli, 1970), using a 12.5% resolving acrylamide gel. It was made with 1.6mL of distilled water, 50 μ L of SDS at 10%, 1.875mL of Tris-Cl (1M pH 8), 1.5mL of AccuGel (Acrylamide to Bisacrylamide Stabilized Solution) 29:1 at 40% (w/v), from National Diagnostics, 25 μ L of APS 10% and 5 μ L of TEMED. The stacking gel contained 1.732mL of water, 25 μ L of SDS 10%, 500 μ L of Tris (0.625M pH 6.8), 250 μ L of acrylamide and the same quantities of APS and TEMED as above. 10 μ L of protein sample with 10 μ L of sample buffer, consisting of Laemmli buffer (Bio-Rad) with 2-mercaptoethanol (Bio-Rad), were loaded on the gel. The molecular size marker used was Precision Plus Protein[™] WesternC[™] Standards (Bio-Rad) and the running buffer was Tris/Glycine/SDS (Bio-Rad). After running the gel on a Bio-Rad Mini PROTEAN[®] Tetra Cell, it was washed three times in distilled water for 5min, stained with Bio-Safe[™] Coomassie G-250 stain (Bio-Rad) for 1hr and destained with distilled water. Bands that presented a different pattern from the control were cut and sent to mass spectrometry for identification.

3. RESULTS

3. RESULTS

Following a continuous exposure to the aforementioned environmental factors, the results at both individual and molecular levels are described beneath.

3.1. Temperature

3.1.1. Physicochemical parameters

Mean values from the water quality measurements are displayed in Table 2. Over the course of the experiments, values did not exhibit high variations between old and new media; nonetheless, pH from the old medium was slightly higher comparing to the fresh one, with no assumed consequences for the test's purpose (OECD, 1998).

Table 2 - Water quality parameters, measured during the temperature exposure experiments with *Daphnia magna* clonal lineages K6 and BEAK. Values are the mean±standard deviation. The control group corresponds to 20°C.

	рН		Dissolved O	xygen (mg/L)	Conductivi	Conductivity (µS/cm)	
	K6	BEAK	K6	BEAK	K6	BEAK	
20ºC	8.02±0.28	8.18±0.25	6.55±1.69	7.61±0.95	518±26	531±23	
15ºC	8.25±0.36	8.30±0.35	8.17±1.57	7.83±0.98	548±34	554±34	
25ºC	8.09±0.32	8.22±0.36	7.60±1.63	7.13±1.05	579±55	615±94	

3.1.2. Age at first reproduction

An increase or decrease in temperature, relatively to the temperature of rearing conditions (control: 20°C), significantly influenced the age of release of the first brood for both *D. magna* clones (K6 and BEAK). A significant increase of 6 days and decrease of 1.6 days in age at first reproduction was observed for *D. magna* K6 exposed to 15°C and 25°C, respectively, in comparison to the control (Kruskal-Wallis test: H₂=40.8, *p*<0.001, followed by the Dunn's test: *p*<0.05; Fig. 1). While for the clone BEAK, exposure to 15°C induced a delay in the release of the first brood of 1.2 days and at 25°C it was hastened for 4 days (Kurskal-Wallis test: H₂=43.1, *p*<0.001, Dunn's test: *p*<0.05; Fig. 1).



Figure 1 - Average of age at first reproduction (days) for clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, exposed to different temperatures. Error bars represent the standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc tests.

3.1.3. Life span and reproduction parameters

Daphnia magna that were exposed to 25° C exhibited a significant decreased life span, both for clone K6 (Kruskal-Wallis: H₂=18.8, p<0.001, followed by the Dunn's test: p<0.05) and clone BEAK (Kruskal-Wallis: H₂=7.65, p<0.022, Dunn's test: p<0.05), comparatively to the control daphnids (Fig. 2). The same occurred for *D. magna* exposed to 15° C, but only for clone K6 (Kruskal-Wallis: H₂=18.8, p<0.022, Dunn's test: p<0.05; in Fig. 2). A reduction of 29.8% (at 15° C) and 45.7% (at 25° C) in life span of *D. magna* K6 was registered relatively to the control, while for *D. magna* BEAK a reduction of 6.21% and 24.1%, relatively to the respective control, was observed at 15° C and 25° C, respectively.



Figure 2 - Average of life span (days) for clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, after being exposed to different temperatures. Error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc tests.

Survival curves representing the temperature effect evidence the relative rate at which the females died (Fig. 3). Even though differences were found in K6 life span, until the 25th day all groups exhibited a similar survivorship. Survival curve of K6 clone exposed at 25^oC had a faster decline than when exposed to the control (20^oC) and 15^oC. Similarly, BEAK's life span was identical in all groups up to the 25th day.



Figure 3 - Survival curves (%) for females of clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, after being exposed to different temperatures (20°C, 15°C and 25°C).

Considering reproduction, temperature influence was only observed in K6 clone exposed at 25°C, since it released a significantly lower number of neonates

than the control (Kruskal-Wallis: $H_2=8.31$, p=0.016, followed by the Dunn's test: p<0.05) (Fig. 4). The increase or decrease in temperature treatment did not exert statistically significant effects on BEAK clone concerning reproduction (Kruskal-Wallis: $H_2=5.07$, p=0.079 (Fig. 4).



Figure 4 - Average of the total number of neonates produced per female of clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, after being exposed to different temperatures. Error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc tests.

Despite the significant life span decrease in K6 at 15°C and in BEAK at 25°C (Fig. 2), it did not influence their reproduction (Fig. 4).

3.1.4. Molecular analysis

During this study, the first samples to be collected were from the temperature assay. Even though significant differences were found, preservation problems occurred with the samples and therefore could not be further processed.

For that reason, no data from temperature exposed daphnids could be presented here.

3.2. Copper

3.2.1. Physicochemical parameters

The water quality measurements during medium changes did not exhibit large variations within assays and between old and new media. Mean values of those measurements are displayed in Table 3.

Table 3 - Water quality parameters, measured during the copper exposure experiments of clonal lineages K6 and BEAK of *Daphnia magna*. Values are the mean±standard deviation. Control data $(0\mu g/L)$ here presented are the same as for the temperature assay.

	рН		Dissolved Ox	ygen (mg/L)	Conductivity (µS/cm)	
_	K6	BEAK	K6	BEAK	K6	BEAK
0μg/L	8.02±0.28	8.18±0.25	6.55±1.69	7.61±0.95	518±26	531±23
11.1µg/L	8.34±0.31	8.24±0.34	7.65±0.92	7.72±0.99	582±40	584±42
16.6µg/L	8.40±0.35	8.47±0.44	7.67±0.93	7.74±0.85	574±30	569±32
25.0µg/L	8.00±0.27	8.42±0.39	7.08±1.18	7.73±0.96	515±27	573±34
37.5µg/L	7.96±0.24	8.37±0.32	6.87±1.13	7.56±0.80	510±10	571±36
56.3µg/L	7.93±0.22	8.27±0.24	6.89±0.91	7.53±0.80	513±20	576±44

3.2.2. Age at first reproduction

The two lowest tested copper concentrations (11.1 and 16.6 μ g/L) induced an increase in the age of the first brood release for clonal lineage K6 (Kruskal-Wallis: H₅= 69.9, *p*<0.001, followed by the Dunn's test: *p*<0.05; Fig. 5), which occurred, on average, 3 days later than in the control. Regarding clonal lineage BEAK, only the concentration of 16.6 μ g/L caused a significant increase in age at first reproduction (Kruskal-Wallis: H₅=14.5, *p*=0.013, Dunn's test: *p*<0.05; Fig. 5); on average, organisms released the first brood 1 day later than the control.



Figure 5 - Average of age at first reproduction (days) for clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, exposed to different copper concentrations. Error bars represent the standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc tests.

3.2.3. Life span and reproduction parameters

The continuous exposure to copper in both *D. magna* clones resulted in a significant reduction in life span in all tested concentrations, excepting at the lowest one (11.1µg/L) (K6 - Kruskal-Wallis: H₅=55.7, *p*<0.001, followed by the Dunn's test: *p*<0.05 and BEAK - Kruskal-Wallis: H₅=45.6, *p*<0.001, Dunn's test: *p*<0.05, Fig. 6). A reduction in life span, relatively to the control, of 43.4% to 75.7% and of 43.8% to 69.5%, with increasing copper concentrations, was observed for clonal lineage K6 and BEAK, respectively.



Figure 6 - Average of life span (days) for clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna* after being exposed to different copper concentrations. Error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc tests

By observing the survival curves of the two clones of *D. magna* exposed to the control and five copper concentrations (Fig. 7), clones present a similar survival pattern. BEAK at 16.6 μ g/L had a lower survival percentage than 25.0, 37.5 and 56.3 μ g/L until around the 35th, 25th and 15th days considering their life span until the end of the assays.



Figure 7 - Survival curves (%) for females of clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna* after being exposed to different copper concentrations.

Regarding clone K6, a significant reduction in the number of neonates released per female occurred for organisms exposed to all tested copper concentrations (ANOVA: $F_{5,79}$ =29.1, *p*<0.001; Dunnett: *p*=0.002 for 11.1µg/L, *p*<0.001 for the rest) (Fig. 8). The total number of neonates produced by clone BEAK decreased in all tested copper concentrations, excepting for 11.1µg/L (Kruskal-Wallis: H₅= 45.4, *p*<0.001, followed by the Dunn's test: *p*<0.05).



Figure 8 - Average of the total number of neonates produced per female of clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, after being exposed to different copper concentrations. Error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following ANOVA and Dunnett's (K6) and Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's (BEAK) post-hoc tests.

Even though the mean life span of clone K6 exposed to 11.1μ g/L was not affected, a significant decrease in the total number of released newborns was observed (14.0±9.1 neonates per brood, *N*=14; control: 23.4±5.32 neonates per brood, *N*=22).

3.2.4. Molecular analysis

Even though significant differences were found for copper treatments, analysis of these samples was conditioned as an unfortunate thawing impaired RNA analysis due to degradation. Therefore, these samples were screened for DNA mutations and protein expression profiles instead.

3.2.4.1. DNA sequence analysis

We have amplified and sequenced fragments of *D. magna* K6 of each PNC1 and GAPDH genes from samples of the control and copper experiments (25.0 and 56.3 μ g/L). For all samples tested, similar SNPs were present and are shown in Figures 9 and 10 and in Table 4.



Figure 9 - Electropherograms showing the heterozygous substitutions 557T>C and 704T>C (highlighted in frames), in the GAPDH gene from copper samples of *Daphnia magna* K6. The alignment was made with a partial mRNA (AJ292555, GenBank) and a partial CDS of GAPDH (FJ668040, GenBank).



Figure 10 - Electropherograms showing the heterozygous substitution 1318A>C (highlighted in frames) in the PNC1 gene from both control and copper samples of *Daphnia magna* K6. The alignment was made with a *D. pulex* CDS.

Gene	SNP position	Nucleotide alteration	Localization	
GAPDH ——	557	T>T/C	Exon	
	704	T>T/C	Intron	
PNC1	1318	A>A/C	Intron	

Table 4 - Localization of the SNPs observed in GAPDH and PNC1 sequences of Daphnia magna.

Since *D. magna*'s genome has not been fully sequenced to date (*Daphnia* Genomics Consortium, DGC, https://wiki.cgb.indiana.edu/display/DGC/Home, last visited 7 December 2012), a partial mRNA reference sequence from the GAPDH gene (AJ292555, GenBank accession) and 81 partial coding sequences (CDSs) of the GAPDH gene were retrieved from the NCBI database, and compared to the consensus sequence of our *D. magna* samples. The sequences used are from several clonal lineages and strains, collected from different geographic regions. The naturally occurring variability can be observed through existing single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). It was observed that 36 out of 81 sequences

had SNPs, in 16 different positions, 5 of them in an intronic region. The alignment is depicted in Figure 11, showing a few examples.





Figure 11 - A - Alignment of *Daphnia magna* partial coding sequences (JN994323 to 55, GenBank, NBCI database) of the GAPDH gene, with our consensus sequence. B - Partial translation of a selected sequences from figure A, showing the SNPs 545T>C and 548G>A. These correspond to synonymous alterations, as the aminoacid remains unchanged.

Other primer combinations for PCR were tested, although unsuccessfully, namely for the ultra spiracle (USP) gene, Dm_USP_F/R (F 5'-ACAATTCCAATGGCTCCAAG/ R 5'-TTGCACTCGACACGTTTCTC), retrieved from Haag et al. (2009), Dm_USP_F1/R1 (F 5'-GGAGGCAAGTTCCCAATACG/ R 5'-CCATCTGCAGGCATTTCTGG) and a primer for *D. longispina* mitochondrial rRNA 12s gene, DI_12s_F/R (F 5'-ACGGGCGATATGTACACAC/ R 5'-CGGTTAGACGAAGAATCCG).

3.2.4.2. Protein expression profile

Protein extracts from both control and copper samples were separated by SDS-PAGE (Fig. 12). The protein profile observed for control and copper exposed daphnids is different, with a stronger band in the organisms exposed to 56.3µg/L of copper (marked in the figure). The band was cut and sent to mass spectrometry analysis; however, no positive identification was made. To further address differences in protein expression, 2D-PAGE analysis will be performed.



Figure 12 - SDS-PAGE with a sample from the highest tested copper concentration treatment (56.3µg/L), comparing to control. The molecular size marker is Precision Plus Protein[™] WesternC[™] Standards (Bio-Rad).

3.3. Food restriction

In this assay, additional food concentrations of 5000 and 19000 cells/mL of the green microalgae *P. subcapitata* were tested. However, the scarce number of neonates produced (1 to 2 neonates at 5000 cells/mL and 2 to 3 neonates per brood at 19000 cells/mL), insufficient for the subsequent analysis, led to the rejection of these groups. Therefore, they were not included in the statistical analysis.

As samples from the food restriction experiments were preserved, they were used for gene expression analysis by RT-PCR.

3.3.1. Physicochemical parameters

Mean values from the medium quality measurements are shown in Table 5. Values of the parameters from the old and new media did not exhibit great differences.

Table 5 - Water quality parameters, measured during the food restriction experiments of *Daphnia magna* clonal lineages K6 and BEAK. Values are the mean±standard deviation. The control group corresponds to 300000 cells/mL.

	рН		Dissolved Oxygen (mg/L)		Conductivity (µS/cm)	
	K6	BEAK	K6	BEAK	K6	BEAK
300000 cells/mL	8.41±0.46	8.39±0.47	8.05±2.14	8.07±2.13	526±69	532±59
164775 cells/mL	8.29±0.54	8.41±0.51	8.62±1.90	8.56±1.33	498±22	521±36
126750 cells/mL	8.22±0.52	8.37±0.52	8.67±1.98	8.49±1.42	498±21	520±35
97500 cells/mL	8.42±0.57	8.47±0.54	8.90±1.79	8.62±1.33	547±42	539±40
75000 cells/mL	8.31±0.37	8.30±0.38	7.70±2.04	7.71±1.96	531±62	532±61

3.3.2. Age at first reproduction

Only the lowest tested food concentration (75000cells/mL) increased the age at first reproduction for both clone K6 (Kruskal-Wallis: $H_4=24.7$, p<0.001, followed by the Dunn's test: p<0.05) and clone BEAK (Kruskal-Wallis: $H_4=49.1$, p<0.001, Dunn's test: p<0.05) (Fig. 13). Both clones released the first brood 1.5 (for K6) and 1 day later (BEAK) than the control.



Figure 13 - Average of age at first reproduction (days) for clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, exposed to food restriction. Error bars represent the standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc tests.

3.3.3. Life span and reproduction parameters

The life span of both clonal lineages (K6 and BEAK) did not significantly differ from the control in any treatment (K6 - Kruskal-Wallis: H₄=4.26, *p*=0.372 and BEAK - Kruskal-Wallis: H₄=17.4, *p*=0.002, followed by the Dunn's test: *p*≥0.05; Fig. 14.



Figure 14 – Average of life span (days) for clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna* after being exposed to food restriction. Error bars represent standard deviation.

Regardless of the non-significant differences in the mean life span, there is a trend in survival rates, where a tendency for prolonged survival of some females in the food restriction groups is observed comparatively with the control (Fig. 15). All food restriction groups lived approximately 20% more than the corresponding controls. Individuals from clone K6 exposed to the control exhibited a slightly higher survival rate until approximately the 65th and the 75th days when it had an abrupt descend (about 75%). BEAK control survival decreased more progressively. The BEAK group fed with 97500 cells/mL had, over the course of the assay, a relative lower survival, yet the longest lived daphnid (137 days).



Figure 15 - Survival curves (%) for females of clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna* after being exposed to food restriction.

Regarding reproduction, a significant decrease in the total number of neonates was observed for daphnids exposed to all tested food levels, except for clone BEAK exposed at 164775 cells/mL (K6, Kruskal-Wallis: H₄=53.7, p<0.001, followed by the Dunn's test: p<0.05 and BEAK, Kruskal-Wallis: H₄=61.4, p<0.001, Dunn's test: p<0.05). Clone BEAK presented a smaller number of neonates at the second lowest tested food concentration (97500 cells/mL) than at the lowest (75000 cells/mL) (Fig. 16), but the difference is not significant.



Figure 16 - Average of the total number of neonates produced per female of clonal lineages K6 and BEAK, of *Daphnia magna*, after being exposed to food restriction. Error bars represent standard deviation. Significant differences from control are indicated by *(p<0.05), following Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's post-hoc tests. in food concentration.

3.3.4. Gene expression analysis

PNC1 and GAPDH gene expression levels were determined in samples from control (300000 cells/mL) and food restriction (75000 cells/mL) experiments.

Results from the agarose gel electrophoresis are displayed in Figure 17. Bands from the PNC1 gene were compared to those of GAPDH by measuring band intensity (excluding the intensity of the image background) and calculating the resulting PNC1/GAPDH ratios. Data were normalized to a sample from the control group (within median values for both longevity and reproduction parameters, marked on the figures by •). One sample from 75000 cells/mL using Dm_GAPDH primers was not successfully amplified. All bands from 75000 cells/mL group and one from control presented pixel saturation; the exposure length was not optimal, so the number of saturated pixels was surpassed (less than 1% is desirable).

Consequently, the relative quantifications are underestimated (marked as ‡ on Figure 17).



Figure 17 cDNA PCR products of PNC1 (amplified with the primers -Dm_P3UTR_F2/Dp_Pcds_R2 and Dp_Pcds1) (A) and GAPDH (B) genes of Daphnia magna clonal lineage K6 fed with 75000 cells/mL. GAPDH was used as control (housekeeping gene). The first bands on the left could not be compared due to their non-amplified samples; ‡, pixel saturation. C -Relative mRNA expression in function of a median control (•) by normalization of the signal

intensity ratios. The samples are from daphnids whose life span and reproduction values were above mean+stdev (μ + σ), under mean-stdev (μ - σ) or around the median values for each group.

3.4 Sirtuin phylogeny

As PNC1 is a regulator of sirtuin activity, we have further characterized *Daphnia* sirtuins. Through BLAST searches, we have identified 5 *D. pulex* sequences corresponding to the 7 human sirtuins. In order to correctly match each sequence, a reciprocal best hit approach was applied (Table 6).

Human Sirtuin	Localization	Protein ID
SIRT1	Nucleus, PML body, cytoplasm	196125
SIRT2	Cytoplasm, cytoskeleton	227006
SIRT3	Mitochondrion matrix	227006
SIRT4	Mitochondrion matrix	194758
SIRT5	Cytoplasm, mitochondrion	195468
SIRT6	Nucleus (nucleoplasm)	199958
SIRT7	Cytoplasm, nucleolus (nucleolus)	199958

 Table 6 - The sirtuin family of protein deacetylases with the subcelullar location and correspondent

 Daphnia pulex protein ID code.

Sirtuin aminoacid sequences were aligned and used to build a phylogenetic tree, using the available Mr.Bayes running in Geneious (Fig. 18). The tree is well resolved, except for *SIRT1* and Dp_196125 that surprisingly were not grouped. As expected, *SIRT2* and *SIRT3* grouped together with Dp_227006, and the same was observed for *SIRT6* and *SIRT7* that are both close to Dp_199958.



Figure 18 - Bayesian phylogenetic analysis of the sirtuin family of protein deacetylases, based on the aminoacid sequence alignment of 12 sirtuins (7 human and 5 from *Daphnia pulex*).

4. DISCUSSION

4. **DISCUSSION**

The outcomes of the present work showed that, with a few exceptions, the variations in the tested environmental parameters (temperature, copper levels and food restriction) caused a significant effect at the individual level, both in age at first reproduction, reproduction and life span. Molecular data, nevertheless, did not reflect those differences, as discussed further ahead in the text.

4.1. Temperature

Several studies in literature have addressed the effects that an increase or decrease in temperature may cause in many species. Specifically for poikilothermic organisms (with no effective physiological mechanisms for thermoregulation), as Daphnia spp., temperature is a key factor (Ebert, 2005). Experiments carried out with poikilothermic species, such as the zebra mussel Dreissena polymorpha (Rao and Khan, 2000), the crayfish Orconectes immunis (Khan et al., 2006) and the vertebrate gilthead sea bream Sparus aurata (Guinea and Fernandez, 1997), reported an intensified metabolic activity with increasing temperature, measured as the oxygen consumption rates. It is also known that cladoceran developmental rates (both embryonic and post-embryonic) are faster with increasing temperatures (Brown, 1929; Korinek, 1970; Munro and White, 1975). Therefore, increased metabolic and developmental rates may have consequences in the reproduction and life span of *D. magna*. Within the present work, a significant increase, of 6 to 1.2 days, and decrease, of 1.6 to 4 days, in age at first reproduction was observed for clone K6 and BEAK of *D. magna* after being exposed to 15°C and 25°C, respectively, in comparison to the control. These results are in line with other published works with several other species (e.g. Kryuchkova, 1973; Goss and Bunting, 1983; Huey et al., 1995). For example, Huye et al. (1995) reported that *D. melanogaster* laid eggs 1 day earlier when exposed at 25°C comparatively to those flies exposed to 18°C. In addition, Goss and Bunting (1983) also observed for *D. magna* a delay of 6.3 days in the first newborn release for animals exposed to 15°C and a precocious release of 3.5 days of the first reproduction for animals exposed at 25°C, comparatively with daphnids exposed to 20°C. The number of days until the first brood was equally comparable to the same authors' study (15°C: 14.3 and 11.2 days for K6 and BEAK, respectively, compared to 16.3 days in Goss and Bunting (1983); 25°C: 6.4 and 6 days, for K6 and BEAK, compared to 6.5 days in Goss and Bunting (1983); 20°C: 8 and 10 days, for K6 and BEAK, compared to 10 days in Goss and Bunting (1983). These results can be explained, for the females exposed at 25°C, by the increase of the metabolic rates, as abovementioned. Likewise, a temperature decrease to 15°C led to a prolongation of the development, in accordance with a previous report by Hardy and Duncan (1994), due to a metabolic slowdown (Gillooly et al., 2006).

Overall, temperature had more influence in the life span than in reproduction. The average life span for *D. magna* K6 living at 20°C was 81.1 days, which is in accordance with data obtained by Robertson (1988) (though no information is given in the paper, concerning the clonal lineage of *D. magna* used in the work) and 56.9 days at 15°C, which corresponds to a much lower life span than that observed by the same author: 100 days as the average life span for *D. magna* at 15°C. Furthermore, previous works carried out with *D. magna* referred an average life span at 25°C of 40 (Anderson and Jenkins, 1942) and 60 days (Robertson, 1988). The life span observed in the present study at 25°C was 44 days (for K6) and 52.5 days (for BEAK), within the range of those reported in the studies previously mentioned.

Most studies regarding total reproduction in *Daphnia* only account for the first broods. However, Goss and Bunting (1983) estimated the total reproduction in *D. pulex* at 20°C to be 230 neonates in average, far less than the values observed here (approximately 400); nevertheless, these values are different probably because they relate two different species. Higher temperatures (in the sublethal range) were related to the production of a reduced number of neonates (Green, 1956) of *D. magna*. The present work showed the same pattern, only for the K6 clone. Therefore, BEAK clone appears to be more resistant to temperature stress than K6. Despite the decrease in the average life span, both clones K6 and BEAK exposed at 15°C and 25°C, respectively, exhibited a similar reproduction output

comparatively to the respective control. Possible explanations may reside in a general increase of the newborn number per clutch (for K6), and a tendency for an increase of the brood frequency (for BEAK). However, these hypotheses are based in observed trends and cannot be assumed as significant measurements, since many broods were not susceptible to be accurately individualized.

As referred in the introduction, works by Stephenson et al. (1984), MacIsaac et al. (1985) and Lagerspetz (2000) demonstrated *D. magna* to be genetically able to tolerate high temperatures. However, in the current work, both clones of *D. magna* were more affected by 25°C exposure than by 15°C: the high temperature affected the life span of both clones (15°C only affected K6) and the effect of temperature in the total number of newborns produced was only observed at 25°C, in clone K6. It is also possible to suggest that 25°C is a more critical stress temperature for the K6 clone than for BEAK: 25°C affected both life span (decreased 45.7% relatively to the control) and reproduction in K6, whereas it only affected the life span in BEAK.

In the present study, no molecular information was obtained regarding the effects induced by temperature variation. Therefore, no comparisons or conclusions could be withdrawn.

4.2. Copper

The importance of copper as a trace element can be observed through its role in multiple cellular enzymes (Siegel et al., 1999). However, the redox nature of copper, although essential to many cellular processes, is also a powerful toxicant (Bossuyt and Colin, 2005), if the concentration in the environment is higher. The maximum recommendable value in water for human consumption is 3000µg/L (MA, 1998). The World Health Organization has established a 2mg/L copper guidance level (Zeitz et al., 2003). This order of magnitude was far from being attained in the assays performed in the present work. *Daphnia* is very sensitive to this metal so the tested concentrations were very low, still environmentally realistic and within the range of many copper toxicity studies (Atienzar et al., 2001; Bossuyt and Colin, 2005; Lopes et al., 2006; Agra et al. 2011).

The two lowest concentrations (11.1 and $16.6\mu g/L$) induced an increase in the age of the first brood release for clonal lineage K6. The same was observed for BEAK exposed to $16.6\mu g/L$. Higher copper concentrations did not affect the time of the first brood release. Interestingly, a study by Atienzar et al. (2001) reported an increase of the mean period for *D. magna* to become ovigerous (of 1 day) at the highest copper concentration ($120\mu g/L$).

Regarding the effects of copper in life span, Kirchman and Botta (2007) found that the supplementation of glycerol-containing media with copper (to a final concentration of 62μ M), resulted in an increase of the life span (from 17 to 72%) in yeast. Furthermore, these authors also found that adding copper to glucose medium had no effect on yeast life span. In the present study, a significant reduction in life span for all tested copper concentrations was observed, except in the lowest (11.1µg/L). These results showed that these clones are more sensitive to copper exposure than clone 5 of *D. magna*, in which longevity was only affected at 120 µg/L (Atienzar et al., 2001). However, regarding reproduction, the clonal lineage BEAK was in agreement with the same report, where a reduction in the number of eggs per female occurred in a range of 15 to 120µg/L. In the current study, 11.1µg/L of copper did not affect the number of total neonates produced per female of clone BEAK. Regardless, K6 clone was affected in all concentrations.

In the present study, the effect of copper was also evaluated at the molecular level. Though it is known that copper may induce DNA damage (mutagenicity) (Tkeshelashvili et al., 1991), the copper concentrations here tested did not cause any mutations in the PNC1 gene, neither in the control (GAPDH). However, all sequenced samples presented SNPs. These alterations are a consequence of the naturally occurring variability (Colbourne et al., 2011). Sequences of *D. magna* from different geographic locations (that possibly combine sexual and asexual reproduction), showed equally synonymous variations, possibly resulting as well from the influence of their habitat.

4.3. Food restriction

Food supply is highly variable in aquatic habitats and the planktonic herbivores often live at different food levels (Gliwicz and Guisande, 1992). It was recognised previously that both quantity and quality of food are important for daphnids (OECD, 1997). The dietary treatment here experimented had slightly lower food concentrations than the ratios tested in other studies. Richardson (1985) and Weindruch et al. (1986), for instance, used between 25% to 60% less than the *ad libitum* quantities. In the present study, there was a reduction of 45% to 75% relatively to the *ad libitum* quantity available in the control. Still, the lowest tested food concentration (75000 cells/mL) was the only one to cause a delay in age at first reproduction of the females of both clones. On the other hand, a study in which *D. similis* were subjected to a low food content (20% of the correspondent high food concentration), did not exhibit differences in the age at first reproduction (Pedrozo and Bohrer, 2003).

The significant decrease of the total reproduction was expected, as females grown at low food levels produced smaller clutches. This pattern of response was also reported in several previous works with *Daphnia* spp. (Gliwicz and Guisande, 1992; Pietrzak et al., 2010).

The life span extension (longevity) under food restriction is a biological phenomenon well identified in many organisms (Sinclair, 2005,) as well as in *Daphnia* spp. (e.g. Latta et al., 2011). The results of the present study were not expected, as no significant differences were found in the life span of daphnids fed with a lower food concentration; despite that, the trend in survival rates (especially in K6 clone), evidences a prolonged survival of some females in the food restriction groups comparatively with the control. On the other hand, Pedrozo and Bohrer (2003) reported an increase in life span of *D. similis* reared at high food concentration. Nevertheless, those studies use different species of algae as food and the information relating its carbon content is not always provided, so comparisons could be difficult to establish.

An increased expression of PNC1 is both necessary for replicative life span extension by caloric restriction and low-intensity stress (Anderson, 2003).
Therefore, it would be expected for *Daphnia* under caloric restriction to present an overexpression in the PNC1 mRNA levels. However, observing the ratios of the corresponding cDNA band intensities (Fig. 17 C), no differences could be found, because the samples from the control group (300000 cells/mL) presented both high and low relative mRNA expression levels. Nevertheless, the individuals under food restriction with increased life span and reproduction values (above mean+stdev) seem to present a higher relative expression than those from the same group, but under mean-stdev, regarding the same parameters. Still, more replicates must be carried out in the present study in order to confirm the abovementioned for the daphnids.

Though not being a goal of the present work, a phylogenetic tree comparing human and *D. pulex* sirtuin aminoacid sequences was carried out in order to assess if *D. pulex* sirtuins were equally conserved as those of other model species. This phylogenetic tree presented high levels of confidence (probability values between 0.97 and 1). Human sirtuins 2 and 3 were grouped together with the *D. pulex* sequence Dp_227006, but presented a lower score (0.7). Sirtuin 1 and the sequence Dp_196125 were not grouped and therefore can be considered here as outgroups. The sirtuin phylogeny here presented may reinforce the conservative charactistics of this family of deacetylases and more specifically observe the aminoacid homology between *D. pulex* and human sirtuins.

5. CONCLUSIONS AND FINAL REMARKS

5. CONCLUSIONS AND FINAL REMARKS

With a life-time exposure of *Daphnia magna* to particular environmental parameters, this work intended to assess their influence on the individual longevity parameters, genetic outcome, in terms of mutations, gene expression levels of the PNC1 gene and protein expression. At the individual level, the copper exposure had a more intense effect than the other environmental factors in this study, because more significant differences were found here, comparing to temperature and food restriction influences. Copper and food restriction exposure had a stronger influence than temperature, regarding reproduction, as can be observed, again, by the levels of significance, greater than for temperature. Nevertheless, temperature was more influent than the other parameters at the age D. magna females became primiparous, for both temperatures had influence. At the molecular level, the differences here obtained were not reflected in the pyrazinamidase and nicotinamidase gene, PNC1: there were no mutations that could be attributed to copper influence or gene expression level alterations associated to food restriction influences. However, daphnids with an increased life span and reproduction presented higher relative mRNA expression of PNC1 than those with values under the mean-stdey. Comparing the responses of the clonal lineages here tested, K6 was more sensitive to temperature, copper and caloric restriction than BEAK.

5.1. Future perspectives

As more *D. magna* genetic information is sequenced, further research with other longevity associated genes could be performed, to confirm or refute the effects reported on the present study. Equally, other factors could be tested for their influence in *D. magna* life span and consequently, longevity. Furthermore, other parthenogenetic model species could be used to assess the same issues here presented, for instance, artemia and the collembolan *Folsomia candida* (Browne, 1992; Tully et al., 2006). The concept of the experiment could as well be

modified to approach this theme from another perspective: an intergenerational study. It would be valuable to follow the consequences of a permanent exposure in the forthcoming generations of daphnids, by observing its reproduction and life span implications and possible maternal effects in the newborns. Part of the cladocerans would be allowed to grow and reproduce, as others would, in parallel, be used for molecular assessments.

6. REFERENCES

6. REFERENCES

- Abascal F, Zardoya R, Posada D, 2005. ProtTest: Selection of best-fit models of protein evolution. Bioinformatics. 21: 2104-5.
- Agra AR, Soares AMVM, Barata C, 2011. Life-history consequences of adaptation to pollution. *Daphnia longispina* clones historically exposed to copper. Ecotoxicology. 20: 552-62.
- Altschul SF, Gish W, Miller W, Meyers EW, Lipman DJ, 1990. Basic local alignment search tool. J. Mol. Biol. 215: 403-10.
- Anderson BG, Jenkins JC, 1942. A time study in the life span of *Daphnia magna*. Biol. Bull. 83, 260-72.
- Anderson RM, Bttterman KJ, Wood JG, Medvedlk O, Sinclair DA, 2003. Nicotinamide and PNC1 govern life span extension by calorie restriction in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Nature. 423: 181-5.
- Arsham AM, Neufeld TP, 2006. Thinking globally and acting locally with TOR. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 2006, 18: 589-97.
- ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials), 1980. Standard practice for conducting acute toxicity tests with fishes, macroinvertebrates and amphibians, Report E-729-80. American Standards for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, P.A, USA.
- ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials), 1988. Standard guide for conducting acute toxicity tests with fishes, macroinvertebrates, and amphibians. E729-88a. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA, USA.
- Atienzar FA, Cheung VV, Awadhesh NJ, Depledge MH, 2001. Fitness parameters and DNA effects are sensitive indicators of copper-induced toxicity in *Daphnia magna*. Toxicological Sciences. 59: 241-50.
- Baird DJ, Soares AMVM, Girling A, Barber I, Calow P, 1989. The long term maintenance of *Daphnia magna* Straus for use in ecotoxicological tests; problems and prospects. In: Proceedings of the 1st European Conference on Ecotoxicology. Lyngby, Denmark, October 17-19, 1988, pp 144-8.

- Balan V, Miller GS, Kaplun L, Balan K, Chong Z, Li F, Kaplun A, VanBerkum MF, Arking R, Freeman DC, Maiese K, Tzivion G, 2008. Life span extension and neuronal cell protection by *Drosophila* nicotinamidase. J. Biol. Chem. 283: 27810-9.
- Barber RD, Harmer DW, Coleman RA, Clark BJ, 2005. GAPDH as a housekeeping gene: analysis of GAPDH mRNA expression in a panel of 72 human tissues. Physiol. Genomics. 21:389-95.
- Berdichevsky A, Viswanathan M, Horvitz HR, Guarente L, 2006. *C. elegans* SIR-2.1 interacts with 14-3-3 proteins to activate DAF-16 and extend life span. Cell 125: 1165-77.
- Blüher M, Kahn BB, Kahn CR, 2003. Extended longevity in mice lacking the insulin receptor in adipose tissue. Science. 299: 572-4.
- Bossuyt BT, Janssen CR, 2005. Copper regulation and homeostasis of *Daphnia magna* and *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata*: influence of acclimation. Environ. Pollut. 136: 135-44.
- Boucknak R, Steinberg CEW, 2010. Modulation of longevity in *Daphnia magna* by food quality and simultaneous exposure to dissolved humic substances. Limnologica - Ecology and Management of Inland Waters. 40: 86-91.
- Bradford MM, 1976. Rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding, Anal. Biochem. 72: 248-54.
- Bradl HB, 2005. Sources and origins of heavy metals. (Chapter 1) HB Bradl (Ed.), Heavy Metals in the Environment: Origin, Interaction and Remediation, Elsevier, London, 1-27.
- Brown LA, 1929. The natural history of cladocerans in relation to temperature-II. Temperature coeficients for development. Am. Nat. 63: 346-52.
- Browne RA, 1992. Population genetics and ecology of *Artemia*: insights into parthenogenetic reproduction. Trends Ecol. Evol. 7: 232-37.
- Browner WS, Kahn AJ, Ziv E, Reiner AP, Oshima J, Cawthon RM, Hsueh W Cummings SR, 2004. The genetics of human longevity. The American Journal of Medicine. 117: 851-860.

- Canudas-Romo V, 2010. Three measures of longevity: time trends and record values. Demography, 47:2.
- Carey JR, Judge DS, 2001. Principles of biodemography with special reference to human longevity. Population. Institut national d'études démographiques, pp 9-40.
- Colbourne JK, Pfrender ME, Gilbert D et al., 2011. The ecoresponsive genome of *Daphnia pulex.* Science. 331: 555-61.
- Conradi M, Depledge MH, 1998. Population responses of the marine amphipod *Corophium volutator* (Pallas, 1976) to copper. Aquat. Toxicol. 44: 31-45.
- Coschigano KT, Clemmons D, Belush LL, Kopchick JJ, 2000. Assessment of growth parameters and life span of GHR/BP gene-disrupted mice. Endocrinology. 141: 2608-13.
- De Benedictis G, Franceschi C, 2006. The unusual genetics of human longevity. *Sci.* Aging Knowledge Environ. 10: 20.
- De Bernardi R, Lacqua P, Saldavini E, 1978. Effects of temperature and food on development times and growth in *Daphnia obtusa* Kurz. and *Simocephalus vetulus* (O.F. Müller) (Crustacea, Cladocera). Mem. Ist. Ital. Idrobiol. 36: 171-91.
- De Magalhaes JP, Budovsky A, Lehmann G, Costa J, Li Y, Fraifeld V, Church GM, 2009. The human ageing genomic resources: online databases and tools for biogerontologists. Aging Cell. 8:65-72.
- Drummond AJ, Ashton B, Buxton S, Cheung M, Cooper A, Duran C, Field M, Heled J, Kearse M, Markowitz S, Moir R, Stones-Havas S, Sturrock S, Thierer T, Wilson A, 2011. Geneious v5.6, Available from <u>http://www.geneious.com.</u>
- Dudycha JL, 2003. A multi-environment comparison of senescence between sister species of *Daphnia*. Oecologia. 135: 555-63.
- Eads BD, Andrews J, Colbourne JK, 2008. Ecological genomics in *Daphnia*: stress responses and environmental sex determination. Heredity. 100: 184-90.
- Ebert D, 2005. Ecology, epidemiology, and evolution of parasitism in *Daphnia*. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US), National Center for

Biotechnology

Information. Available

from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=Books.

- Eicchorn GL, Shin YA, 1968. Interaction of metal ions with polynucleotides and related compouds: XII. The relative effect of various metal ions on DNA helicity. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 90: 7323-8.
- Ellstrand NC, Whitkus R, Rieseberg LH, 1996. Distribution of spontaneous plant hybrids. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 93:5090-3.
- Enesco HE, Wolanskyj A, Sawada M, 1989. Effect of copper on life span and lipid peroxidation of rotivers. Age. 12: 19-23.
- Finch CE, 1990. Longevity, senescence, and the genome, Univ. of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- Finch CE, Tanzi RE, 1997. Genetics of ging. Science. 278: 407-411.
- Flurkey K, Papaconstantinou J, Miller RA, Harrison DE, 2001. Life span extension and delayed immune and collagen aging in mutant mice with defects in growth hormone production. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 98: 6736-41.
- Fontana L, Partridge L, Longo VD. 2010. Extending healthy life span—from yeast to humans. Science. 328: 321.
- Gallo CM, Smith DL Jr, Smith JS, 2004. Nicotinamide clearance by Pnc1 directly regulates Sir2-mediated silencing and longevity. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24: 1301-12.
- Gelman R, Watson A, Bronson R, Yunis E ibid, 1988. Murine chromosomal regions correlated with longevity. Genetics. 118:693-704.
- Gems D, Partridge L, 2012. Genetics of Longevity in Model Organisms: Debates and paradigm shifts. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 75: Epub ahead of print.
- Gillooly JF, Allen AP, Savage VM, Charnov EL, West GB, Brown JH, 2006. Response to Clarke and Fraser: effects of temperature on metabolic rate. Functional Ecology. 20: 400-4.
- Gliwicz ZM, Guisande C, 1992. Family planning in *Daphnia*: resistance to starvation in offspring born to mothers grown at different food levels. Oecologia. 91: 463-7.
- Goss LB, Bunting DL, 1983. *Daphnia* development and reproduction: responses to temperature. J. Therm. Biol. 8: 375-80.

- Gras R, Saint-Jean L, 1978. Duree et caracteristiques du developpment juvenile de quelques cladoceres du lac Tchad. Cah. ORSTOM, ser. Hydrobiologia. XII, 2:119-36.
- Green J, 1956. Growth, size and reproduction in *Daphnia* (Crustacea: Cladocera). Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London, 126: 173-204.
- Grigoriev V, Nordberg H, Shabalov I, Aerts A, Cantor M, Goodstein D, Kuo A, Minovitsky S, Nikitin R, Ohm RA, Otillar R, Poliakov A, Ratnere I, Riley R, Smirnova T, Rokhsar D, Dubchak I, 2011. The Genome Portal of the Department of Energy Joint Genome Institute I. Nucleic. Acids Res. 40: 26-32.
- Guarente L, Kenyon C, 2000. Genetic pathways that regulate ageing in model organisms Nature 408: 255-62.
- Guarente L, 2007. Sirtuins in aging and disease. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 72: 483-8.
- Haag CR, Seanna J, McTaggart JS, Didier A, Little TJ, Charlesworth D, 2009. Nucleotide polymorphism and within-gene recombination in *Daphnia magna* and *D. pulex*, two cyclical parthenogens. Genetics. 182: 313-23.
- Hardy ER, Duncan A, 1994. Food concentration and temperature effects on life cycle characteristics of tropical cladocera (*Daphnia gessneri* Herbst, *Diaphanosoma sarsi* Richard, *Moina reticulate* (Daday)): I. development time. Acta Amazonica. 24: 119-34.
- Hebert PDN, 1987. Genotypic characteristics of cyclic parthenogens and their obligately asexual derivates. *In* The evolution of sex and its consequences (Stearns S. Basel. Eds). Birkhäuser Verlag. 175-95.
- Herskind, AM, McGue M, Holm NV, Sorensen TIA, Harvald B, Vaupel JW, 1996. The heritability of human longevity: A population-based study of 2872 Danish twin pairs born 1870-1900. Human Genetics. 96: 319-23.
- Huelsenbeck JP and Ronquist F, 2001. MRBAYES: Bayesian inference of phylogenetic trees. Bioinformatics. 17: 754-5.
- Huey RB, Wakefield T, Crill WD, Gilchrist GW, 1995. Within- and betweengeneration effects of temperature on early fecundity of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity.74: 216-23.

- Ingle L, Wood TR, Banta AM, 1937. A study of longevity, growth, reproduction and heart rate in *Daphnia longispina* as influenced by limitations in quantity of food. J. Exp. Zool. 76: 325-52.
- Jayatunga YNA, 1986. The influence of food and temperature on the life cycle characteristics of tropical cladoceran species from Kalawewa Reservoir, Sri Lanka. PhD Thesis, University of London, 410pp.
- Jia K, Chen D, Riddle DL, 2004. The TOR pathway interacts with the insulin signaling pathway to regulate *C. elegans* larval development, metabolism and life span. Development. 131: 3897- 906.
- Johnson TE and Wood WB, 1982. Genetic analysis of life-span in *Caenorhabditis elegans* Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79, 6603.
- Kaeberlein M, McVey M, Guarente L, 1999. The SIR2/3/4 complex and SIR2 alone promote longevity in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by two different mechanisms. Genes Dev. 13: 2570-80.
- Kaeberlein M, 2007. Longevity genomics across species. Curr. Genomics. 8:73-78.
- Kankaala P, Wulff F, 1981. Experimental studies on temperature dependent embryonic and postembryonic developmental rates of *Bosmina longispina maritima* (Cladocera) in the Baltic. Oikos. 36: 137-46.
- Kapahi P, Zid BM, Harper T, Koslover D, Sapin V, Benzer S, 2004. Regulation of life span in *Drosophila* by modulation of genes in the TOR signaling pathway.Curr. Biol. 14: 885-90.
- Kenyon C, 2001. A conserved regulatory system for aging. Cell. 105: 165-8.
- Kibbe WA, 2007. OligoCalc: an online oligonucleotide properties calculator. Nucleic Acids Res. Vol. 35, Web Server issue.
- Kirchman PA, Botta G, 2007. Copper supplementation increases yeast life span under conditions requiring respiratory metabolism. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development. 128: 187-95.
- Koivisto S, Ketola M, 1995. Effects of copper on life history traits of *Daphnia pulex* and *Bosmina longirostris*. Aquat. Toxicol. 32: 255-69.
- Korinek V, 1970. The embryonic and post-embryonic development of *Daphnia hyalina* from Lake Maggiore. Mem. ist Ital. Idrobiol. 26: 85-95.

- Koubova J, Guarente L, 2003. How does calorie restriction work? Genes Dev. 17: 313-21.
- Kruskal WH, Wallis WA, 1952. Use of ranks in one-criterion variance analysis. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 47: 583-621.
- Kryuchkova NM, 1973. Effect of temperature and trophic conditions on the duration of Cladocera development. Hydrobiologia. 9: 39-47.
- Laemmli, UK, 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature. 227: 680-5.
- Lagerspetz KYH, 2000. Thermal avoidance and preference in *Daphnia magna. J.* Thermal Biol. 25: 405-10.
- LeRoith D, Werner H, Beitner-Johnson D, Roberts Jr CT, 1995. Molecular and cellular aspects of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor. Endocr. Rev. 16: 143-63.
- Lloyd DR, Phillips DH, 1999. Oxidative DNA damage mediated by copper (II), iron (II) and nickel (II) Fenton reactions: Evidence for site-specific mechanisms in the formation of double-strand breaks, 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine, and putative intrastrand cross-links. Mutat. Res. 424: 23-36.
- Lopes I, Baird DJ, Ribeiro R, 2006. Genetic adaptation to metal stress by natural populations of *Daphnia longispina*. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 63: 275-85.
- Lushchak VI, 2011. Environmentally induced oxidative stress in aquatic animals. Aquat. Toxicol. 101: 13-30.
- MA, 1998. Decreto-Lei n.º 236/98, 1 Agosto. Ministério do Ambiente. Diário da República n.º 176/98 Série I–A, pp 3676-722. <u>http://dre.pt</u>
- MacIsaac HJ, Hebert PDN, Schwartz SS, 1985. Inter-and intraspecific variation in the acute thermal tolerance of *Daphnia*. Physiolog. Zool. 58: 350-5.
- Mair W, Goymer P, Pletcher SD, Partridge L, 2003. Demography of dietary restriction and death in *Drosophila*. Science. 301: 1731-3.
- Mair W, Dillin A, 2008. Aging and survival: the genetics of life span extension by dietary restriction. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 77: 727–54.
- Martin DE, Hall MN, 2005. The expanding TOR signaling network. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 17: 158-66.

- Martínez-Jerónimo F, Villaseiior R, Rios G, Espinosa F,1994. Effect of food type and concentration on the survival, longevity, and reproduction of *Daphnia magna*. Hydrobiologia. 287: 207-14.
- Masoro EJ, 2000. Caloric restriction and aging: an update. Exp Gerontol. 35: 299-305.
- McCay C, Crowell M, Maynard L, 1935. The effect of retarded growth upon the length of life and upon ultimate size. Journal of Nutrition 10: 63-79.
- McDonald RB, Ruhe RC, 2011. Aging and longevity: why knowing the difference is important to nutrition research. Nutrients. 274-82.
- Meador P, 1991. The interaction of pH, dissolved organic carbon, and total copper in the determination of ionic copper and toxicity. Aquat. Toxicol. 19: 13-31.
- Merril CR, Goldman D, 1984. Detection of polypeptides in two-dimensional gels using silver staining. *in* Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis of proteins (Celis,J.E. and Bravo.R. Eds) Academic Press Orlando,FL, U.S.A. pp. 93-109.
- Mitchell BD, Hsueh WC, King TM, Pollin TI, Sorkin J, Agarwala R, Schaffer AA, Shuldiner AR, 2001. Heritability of life span in the old order Amish. Am. J.Med.Genet. 102: 346-52.
- Muñoz-Mejía G, Martínez-Jerónimo F, 2007. Impact of algae and their concentrations on the reproduction and longevity of cladocerans. Annals Limnologie Int. J. Limnol. 43: 167–77.
- Munro IG and White RWG, 1975. Comparison of the influence of temperature on the egg development and growth of *Daphnia longispina* O. F. Muller (Crustacea: Cladocera) from two habitats in Southern England. Oecologia, Berl. 20: 157-65.
- Nelson DL, Cox MM, 2004. Lehninger principles of Biochemistry, 4th edition. WH Freeman, New York. 1117p.
- OECD (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development), 1997. OECD environmental health and safety publications. Series on testing and assessment Nr.6. Report of the final ring test of the *Daphnia magna* reproduction test. Paris.

- OECD (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development), 1998. OECD guidelines for testing of chemicals 211 *Daphnia magna* reproduction test. 64: 21.
- Orcutt JD, Porter KG, 1984. The synergistic effects of temperature and food concentration on life history parameters of *Daphnia parvula*. Oecologia. 63: 300-6.
- Partridge L, Barton NH, 1993. Evolution of aging: testing the theory using *Drosophila.* Genetica. 91: 89-98.
- Partridge L, 2009. Some highlights of research on aging with invertebrates. Aging Cell. 8:509-13.
- Pedersen NL, Christensen K, Dahl AK, et al., 2012. IGEMS: The Consortium on interplay of genes and environment across multiple studies. Twin Res. Hum. Genet. 28: 1-9.
- Pedrozo CS, Bohrer MBC, 2003. Effects of culture medium and food quantity on the growth, fecundity and longevity of the cladoceran *Daphnia similis* Claus. Acta Limnol. Bras. 15: 43-9.
- Piantanelli L, Zaia A, Rossolini G, Piantanelli A, Basso A, Anisimov VN, 2001. Long-live euthymic BALB/c-nu mice, I: Survival study suggests body weight as a life span predictor. Mech. Ageing Dev. 122: 463-75.
- Pietrzak B, Bednarska A, Grzesiuk M, 2010. Longevity of *Daphnia magna* males and females. Hydrobiologia. 643: 71-5.
- Promislow DEL, Tatar M, Khazaeli A, Curtsinger JW, 1996. Age-specific patterns of genetic variance in *Drosophila melanogaster*. I. Mortality Genetics. 143: 839-48.
- Puca AA, Daly MJ, Brewster SJ, Matsie TC, Barrett J, Shea-Drinkwater M, Kang S, Joyce E, Nicoli J, Benson E, Kunkel LM, Perls T, 2001. A genome-wide scan for linkage to human exceptional longevity identifies a locus on chromosome 4. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 98, pp. 10505-8.
- Rao, DGVP, Khan MAQ, 2000. Zebra Mussels: Enhancement of copper toxicity by high temperature and its relationship with respiration and metabolism. Water Environment Research. 72:175-8.

- Richardson, A. 1985. The effect of age and nutrition on protein synthesis by cells and tissues from mammals. *In* Handbook of nutrition in the aged (ed. W.R. Watson), pp. 31–48. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Robertson AL, 1988. Life histories of some species of Chydoridae (Cladocera: Crustacea). Freshwater Biology, 20: 75-84.
- Rocha O, 1983. The influence of food-temperature combinations on the duration of development, body size, growth and fecundity of *Daphnia* species. PhD Thesis. University of London, 337pp.
- Rodgher S, Espíndola ELG, Rocha O, Fracácio R, Pereira RHG, Rodrigues MHS, 2005. Limnological and ecotoxicological studies in the cascade of reservoirs in the Tietê river (São Paulo, Brazil) Braz. J. Biol. 65: 697-710.
- Rogina B, Helfand S, 2004. Sir2 mediates longevity in the fly through a pathway related to calorie restriction. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101: 15998-16003.
- Rose MR, Burke MK, Shahrestani P, Mueller LD, 2008. Evolution of ageing since Darwin. Journal of Genetics. 87: 363-71.
- Schwerin S, Zeis B, Lamkemeyer T, Paul RJ, Koch M, Madlung J, Fladerer C, Pirow R, 2009. Acclimatory responses of the *Daphnia pulex* proteome to environmental changes. II. Chronic exposure to different temperatures (10 and 20 degrees C) mainly affects protein metabolism. BMC Physiol. 9:8.
- Segen JC, 2006. Concise dictionary of modern Medicine. McGraw-Hill, New York, 2nd Ed.
- Shanley DP, Kirkwood TBL, 2000. Calorie restriction and aging: a life history analysis. Evolution 54: 740-50.
- Siegel GJ, Agranoff BW, Albers RW, et al., editors. 1999. Basic Neurochemistry: Molecular, Cellular and Medical Aspects. 6th Edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven; Nutrition and Functional Neurochemistry. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK28242/.</u>
- Silva RM, Duarte IC, Paredes JA, Lima-Costa T, Perrot M, Boucherie H, Goodfellow BJ, Gomes AC, Mateus DD, Moura GR, Santos MA, 2009. The yeast PNC1 longevity gene is up-regulated by mRNA mistranslation. PLoS One. 4:e5212.

- Sims IR, Watsom S, Holmes D, 1993. Towards a standard *Daphnia* juvenile production test. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 12: 2053-8.
- Sinclair DA, 2005. Toward a unified theory of caloric restriction and longevity regulation. Mech. Ageing Dev 126, 987-1002.
- Soares AMVM, Baird DJ, Calow P, 1992. Interclonal variation in the performance of *Daphnia magna* Straus in chronic bioassays. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 11: 1477-83.
- Stein JR, 1973. Handbook of phycological methods—culture methods and growth measurements. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Stephenson RR and Watts SA, 1984. Chronic toxicity tests with *Daphnia magna*: the effect of different food and temperature regimes on survival, reproduction and growth. Environ. Pollut. 36: 95.
- Sullivan A, Sheffrin SM, 2003. Economics: Principles in action. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey 07458: Pearson Prentice Hall. 3rd Edition p. 473.
- Tatar M, Bartke A, Antebi, A, 2003. The endocrine regulation of aging by insulinlike signals. Science. 299: 1346-51.
- Taylor DM, Maxwell MM, Luthi-Cartera R, Kazantsevb AG, 2008. Biological and Potential Therapeutic Roles of Sirtuin Deacetylases Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 65: 4000-18.
- Tissenbaum HA, Guarente L, 2001. Increased dosage of a sir-2 gene extends in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Nature. 410: 227-30.
- Tkeshelashvili LK, McBride T, Spence K, Loeb LA, 1991. Mutation spectrum of copper-induced DNA damage. J Biol. Chem. 266: 6401-6.
- Tollrian R and Leese F, 2010. Ecological genomics: steps towards unravelling the genetic basis of inducible defences in *Daphnia*. BMC Biology, 8: 51.
- Tully T, D'Haese CA, Richard M, Ferrière, 2006. Two major evolutionary lineages revealed by molecular phylogeny in the parthenogenetic collembolan species *Folsomia candida*. Pedobiologia. 50: 95-104.
- Ungerer MC, Johnson LC, Herman MA, 2008. Ecological genomics: understanding gene and genome function in the natural environment. Heredity. 100: 178-83.
- Vellai T, Takacs-Vellai K, Zhang Y, Kovacs AL, Orosz L, Muller F, 2003. Genetics: influence of TOR kinase on life span in *C. elegans*. Nature. 426: 620.

- Vijverberg J, 1980. Effect of temperature in laboratory studies on development and growth of Cladocera and Copepoda from Tjeukemeer, The Netherlands. Fresh. Biol. 10:317-40.
- Viswanathan M, Kim SK, Berdichevsky A, Guarente L, 2005. A role for SIR-2.1 regulation of ER stress response genes in determining *C. elegans* life span. Dev. Cell. 9: 605–15.
- Weglenska AT, 1971. The influence of various concentrations of natural food on the development, fecundity and production of planktonic crustacean filtrators. Ekologie Polska. 19: 427-73.
- Weindruch R, Walford RL, Fligiel, Guthrie S, 1986. The retardation of aging in mice by dietary restriction: longevity, cancer, immunity and lifetime energy intake. J. Nutr.116: 641-54.
- Yin M, Petrusek A, Seda J, Wolinska J, 2012. Fine-scale temporal and spatial variation of taxon and clonal structure in the *Daphnia longispina* hybrid complex in heterogeneous environments. BMC Evol Biol.12:12.
- Zar JH, 2010. Biostatistical analysis, 5th Edition, Prentice Hall.
- Zeitz BP, Dieter HH, Lakomek M, Schneider H, Kebler-Gaedtke B, Dunkelberg H, 2003. Epidemiological investigations on chronic copper toxicity to children exposed via the public drinking water supply. The Science of the Total Environment, 302: 127-144.